1969

Parley Marsh v. Robert Bryce Irvine and James Blackwood Neil : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff Marsh to recover damages for injuries arising out of the automobile accident, against two defendants, one of whom, Irvine, was the driver of the vehicle in which Marsh was riding and the other, Neil, the driver of the vehicle which struck the rear of the Irvine vehicle in which plaintiff was riding. Irvine also filed a cross-claim against the other defendant, Neil, for damage to the Irvine vehicle. (After this brief was prepared Neil settled with Irvine for Irvine's damages and the cross-claim has been dismissed.)

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried before a jury which returned a verdict for the plaintiff against the defendant Irvine for \$10,000.00 and a no cause verdict in favor of the defendant Neil on both the complaint and the cross-claim. The trial court subsequently denied defendant Irvine's motion for a new trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the lower court; that the Supreme Court enter a judgment for the defendant Irvine as a matter of law on the plaintiff's complaint and in the alternative for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The collision out of which the plaintiff's cause of action arose occurred on the 9th day of November, 1964, at about 4:20 p.m. on State Road 201 which is the main highway going past the Magna Mill and Arthur Smelter. (See Exhibit 3-P).

The plaintiff Marsh and defendant Irvine both worked at the Arthur Concentrate Plant. Marsh, together with Russell Beck and Bud Turpin rode back and forth to work from Salt Lake City with Irvine in his 1962 Ford station wagon on about a daily basis paying Mr. Irvine \$.75 per day for the ride (R. 345).

State Highway 201 in the area where the accident occurred is a four-lane hard surface highway running

generally east and west with the inside eastbound lane being 14 feet 6 inches wide and the outside lane 13 feet wide. There is also an 8-foot hard surface shoulder used for emergency stopping on the south side of the highway (R. 222). The east and westbound lanes of traffic are separated by a raised island (R. 223) which has a break in it at the junction with the Magna Mill Road. (See Exhibits 2-P and 3-P). The Magna Mill Road joins from the south. A stop sign faces traffic going from the Magna Mill Road onto Highway 201 (Exhibits 3-P, 6, 7, 8 and 9-P). The stop sign is 12 feet south of the south edge of Highway 201 and 6 feet east of the east edge of the Magna Road. Officer Hayward, the investigating officer from the Utah Highway Patrol, described the highway as a fairly new asphalt base with oil and rock chip surface (R. 281) and probably travel worn (R. 222) or traffic worn (R. 281). The highway was fairly level in the area where the accident occurred (R. 277, Exhibits 6, 7, 8 and 9-P).

Officer Hayward testified that using an average drag factor for that highway, reaction time, plus stopping distance at 60 miles per hour on that highway was 250 feet, and other speeds as follows:

50 miles per hour — 178 feet
45 miles per hour — 154 feet.
40 miles per hour — 126 feet.
35 miles per hour — 102 feet.
30 miles per hour — 79 feet.
(R. 282)

Visibility is good for several hundred feet both to the east and west from the Magna Road along Highway 201 (R. 277).

When he arrived, he noted the Neil and Irvine vehicles both in the inside lane of traffic where they came to rest after the accident (R. 224). The vehicles were several feet apart, and Mr. Irvine's vehicle was 77 feet east of the west end of two brake marks in the inside lane of traffic which were each 7 feet long and began 140 feet from the exit of the Magna Mill Road. These marks were left by the Neil vehicle and were the only marks left by the vehicle (R. 231, 232).

At the time of the accident the road was dry, it was daylight and the road was clean (R. 234-235, 237).

The officer thought the point of impact to be in the inside lane of traffic in the area of the two brake marks but excluded the possibility of the impact being to the west of the marks (R. 232-233, 288).

On cross-examination the officer said he couldn't say whether the impact was beyond the skid marks or at the skid marks (R. 288-289). No other evidence was given by the officer as to where the impact took place (R. 289). The officer checked the area west of the seven-foot skid mark for a distance of 200 to 300 feet and found no other marks (R. 297). Damage to defendant Neil's vehicle on the front end was \$75.00; damage to defendant Irvine's vehicle on the left rear was very slight (R. 297, 301, 370).

Mr. Irvine, with Mr. Marsh in the front seat of the car, stopped at the stop sign at the Mill Road entrance to the main highway and picked up Mr. Beck and Mr. Turpin. He stopped about five feet west of the east edge of the Magna Mill Road and at about the stop sign (R. 351) with the front end about five feet south of Highway 201 (R. 366). He then looked to the west for approaching traffic. He observed traffic about 500 feet to the west of the intersection (R. 354) in both lanes of traffic (R. 355) with traffic in the inside lane being a little further away (R. 367). Mr. Beck, in the back seat, said, "It is clear; let's go." Irvine entered into the intersection and drove across the outside lane and into the inside lane as indicated on Exhibit P in red (R. 359). He placed the point of impact at a distance approximately 230 feet east of the east edge of the Magna Road entrance in the inside lane of traffic (R. 359) as shown in red. He was traveling at between 30 to 35 miles per hour when his vehicle was struck from the rear by the Neil vehicle (R. 360-361). In entering the intersection he drove in a normal manner and did not accelerate rapidly. When he left the stop sign, he did not proceed down the right-hand lane and then swing over to the inside lane (R. 362-363) but made a normal curve pattern into the inside lane (R. 367). He estimated he was going 15 miles per hour as he entered the inside lane of traffic (R. 234). After observing the traffic west of the intersection and entering the intersection he did not again look to the west, and he did not see the Neil vehicle until after impact (R. 444, 445).

The defendant, Mr. Neil, was on his way from Tooele to Sandy. He had been to Tooele in connection with his plumbing business and was driving a 1964 Chevrolet Greenbrier van-type vehicle. He had been over this road many times and was aware that there was a change of shift taking place at the mills as he was driving along the highway (R. 477) and was also aware of the congested traffic condition. He was traveling at a speed of 60 miles per hour which was the posted limit. When he first saw the defendant Irvine's vehicle, it was stopped at the stop sign, and Mr. Neil testified he was then 150 feet away traveling at 60 miles per hour (R. 454, 464). He observed Irvine move out into the intersection. He disagreed with Mr. Irvine's drawing as to the path the Irvine vehicle took from the stop sign and claimed that it went directly north until it entered his lane of traffic (R. 456; also see the green line drawn on Exhibit 3-P by Mr. Neil representing the path of Irvine's vehicle). He also placed the point of impact where the two short green lines appear east of the intersection 180 feet (R. 457, 467).

The Irvine vehicle moved uninterruptedly into the intersection, and it wasn't fast (R. 458). Neil testified that Irvine was going about 20 miles per hour when he crossed into his lane of traffic and that he was going 30 to 35 miles per hour at impact (R. 458). The direction of travel of the Irvine vehicle caused Neil some alarm as he saw it coming toward his lane of traffic (R. 458).

When Neil first saw the Irvine vehicle moving out into the intersection, he applied his brakes but his vehicle swayed and almost went out of control. He then

released the brake and let the engine take over the vehicle again and then he jammed on the brakes again to stop it, but the impact was definitely not where the skid marks were but further east (R. 459). He thought he was going around 30 miles per hour at the time of impact with the Irvine vehicle (R. 459). Neil testified that Irvine should have gotten up as much speed as he possibly could when he got in his lane, but instead got in the fast lane and loafed along (R. 460, 488) or drove in a normal manner (R. 477).

When Irvine entered Neil's lane of traffic, Neil was 75 to 100 feet back from the stop sign and still going 60 miles per hour. He said it was doubtful that he could have stopped before he got to the point of impact if he had kept his brakes on when he first applied them (R. 481) but admitted he could have slowed the vehicle to less than 30 miles per hour (R. 481).

Captain Ed Pitcher of the Utah Highway Patrol was called as an expert witness. He testified that he has had 28 years of experience with the Utah Highway Patrol and has investigated thousands of accidents, has had many years of training and has also trained police officers in Utah in accident investigation for many years.

Captain Pitcher testified that on a good asphalt road, which was dry and free from debris, where the temperature was not unusual and the road was level, the probable stopping distance of an ordinary car with good tires including reaction time and based on an average drag factor of .65 would be as follows:

60 miles per hour — 251 feet
(R. 509) 66 feet reaction time.
55 miles per hour — 215 feet
50 miles per hour — 182 feet
45 miles per hour — 153 feet
40 miles per hour — 128 feet
35 miles per hour — 101 feet
30 miles per hour — 79 feet

and that the average reaction time is three-fourths of one second. Captain Pitcher measured the distance on the scaled drawing on the line of travel as given by Mr. Neil for the Irvine vehicle from the stop sign to the inside lane of eastbound traffic as 33 feet and the distance from the point where Mr. Neil placed the point of impact to where he entered the inside lane of traffic as 180 feet from the scaled drawing. Using these factors and on the basis of a hypothetical question from plaintiff's counsel which assumed that the Irvine vehicle traveled from a stopped position at the stop sign to a speed of 35 miles per hour at the point of impact as testified to by witnesses, there being a total distance of 213 feet from the stop sign to the point of impact, Captain Pitcher computed it would take a total of 8.4 seconds.

From the point where Irvine entered the inside lane of traffic to the point of impact would take 5.1 seconds. He also computed on the basis of his experience and the hypothetical question that Irvine would enter the inside lane at a speed of 13.7 miles per hour (R. 510). He also testified that a car could not accelerate to a speed of 35 miles per hour in a distance of 32 feet; that that is about three times the expected maximum acceleration of the ordinary car, (R. 565, 566) and that he could not

make the turn at that speed. On the basis of the same drag factor, Pitcher testified that Neil would slow from 60 miles per hour to 35 miles per hour in a distance of 122 feet (R. 511, 519) and that it would take 1.7 seconds to slow from 60 down to 35 leaving a balance in time of 3.4 seconds reserve time (R. 517, 520). The Neil car at that point if brakes were applied would be 423 feet west of the point of impact. At 60 miles per hour he could have brought his vehicle to a complete stop in 4.2 seconds after the brakes were applied (R. 517). With 5.1 seconds available to Neil after Irvine entered the inside lane and including three-fourths of a second reaction time Neil could have come to a complete stop before the point of impact with .15 seconds to spare. [Mr. Neil claimed that he had faster than average reaction time which he said was five seconds. His was three seconds (R. 478, 479).] To slow to 30 miles per hour from 60 with a drag factor of .65 would take 139 feet.

Captain Pitcher also testified that he supervised some tests in the area of the accident on June 27, 1965, about seven months after this accident (R. 539). The tests were taken in between the two flumes shown in Exhibit 8-P (R. 540). The drag factor or co-efficient of friction determined by those tests were .79 and .80 (R. 544). He also testified that he was acquainted with the road, that it was a high-type road with a good surface on it, that his tests were made when the road was dry and clear of foreign material and that the surface where he made his tests appeared to be similar to the road where the accident occurred. He checked it again the

night before testifying (R. 542-544). Mr. Irvine testified the road surface had not been changed since the accident (R. 653).

With a drag factor of .79 it would take 114 feet to slow from 60 miles per hour to 30 according to Captain Pitcher (R. 572).

During the beginning phase of the case while Officer Hayward was testifying the court in chambers advised all counsel that it would not allow testimony of Officer Hayward with respect to the co-efficient of friction of the highway (R. 269) but that after the witness qualified as an expert through experience and training that he could testify relative to the approximate stopping distances (R. 269). The officer was thereafter permitted to testify from his Utah Highway Patrol chart on stopping distances using what he considered was an average drag factor for the highway in question as previously described by him (R. 282-285).

Subsequently, when Captain Ed Pitcher testified as an expert witness, the stopping distances were again brought out on the basis of an average drag factor for the highway as described by Officer Hayward (R. 294-496).

On Voir Dire Examination by Mr. Hanson Captain Pitcher, who had been in court during Officer Hayward's testimony and was aware of the court's ruling with respect to using the term "co-efficient of friction," testified that he was using an average drag factor for good

roads, good tires and so on, but the court finally allowed Mr. Hanson to bring out he was using a factor of .65 (R. 495).

On cross-examination he was allowed to bring out from Captain Pitcher that the chart used by Officer Hayward showed a co-efficient of friction of .45 to .65 for a traffic polished road on speeds over 30 miles per hour and to elicit from him the various stopping distances at speeds of 60 to 30 miles per hour using those drag factors. (R. 520-524, 552-553) Captain Pitcher did not agree with the chart and didn't agree that the numbers on the chart were proper numbers (R. 526).

The testimony on this interrogation follows:

THE COURT: I want to make my point again; this witness has not testified as to the quality of that particular road.

MR. HUNT: Correct.

THE COURT: He says, according to the chart he uses, a good asphalt road—travel-polished—varies between .45 as a drag-factor and a .65 as a drag-factor.

MR. HUNT: Who testified to that?

THE COURT: Captain Pitcher; he says he uses this chart.

A. No; I just read the chart; he asked me what it read. I read it to him. I didn't agree those are the proper numbers.

THE COURT: You don't agree with your own chart?

A. That is just a suggestive chart, and it is, actually a page from a textbook which is used, but may have value where there are no tests available.

THE COURT: That is something entirely different; I assumed it was your chart. You put it out. You have the officers use it?

A. It is suggestive; where there are no tests available, or any other information.

MR. HANSON: Your Honor—

A. Might continue—I might explain why I use .65 in dealing with these —

MR. HANSON: I think that is immaterial. We do have a point here, where there is no specific drag-factor available. Maybe, I will have to go into this chart, with the Jury, tomorrow.

MR. HUNT: Your Honor, it was the Court that suggested we got to avoid this type of thing, and, now, goes into matters of coefficient of friction or drag-factor, and I am sure we are into the confusion —

(Argument.)

THE COURT: My suggestion was, the use by plaintiff of his own witness of calling for an expression of coefficient of friction; I permitted the testimony of Hayward to come in just as you requested it, and it is in the record. It is before the Jury.

If Mr. Hanson wants to attempt to bewilder the Jury with scientific terms, without an explanation of what drag-factor and what coefficient of friction means, it would seem to me you shouldn't object to that.

(R. 526-527)

The court admitted Captain Pitcher's testimony with respect to the skid tests made by him but would only admit testimony of the slowing distance from 60 miles per hour to 30 miles per hour using the test skid drag factor, although counsel sought to introduce other speeds such as 35 miles per hour which had been testified to by witnesses (R. 571-573). He was allowed to compute over objection the distances for stopping using a co-efficient of friction of .45 and Neil's counsel wrote them down on a chart for the jury (R. 575).

The court refused to give defendant Irvine's requested Instruction No. 1 for a directed verdict but did give the following instructions which counsel for Irvine objected to (R. 665, 666):

#6 — The rules of evidence ordinarily do not permit the opinion of a witness to be received as evidence. An exception to this rule exists in the case of expert witnesses. *A doctor, engineer, appraiser or mechanic* who by education, study and experience has become an expert in any art, science or profession, and who is called as a witness, may give his opinion as to any matter in which he is versed and which is material to the case. You should consider such expert opinion and should weigh the reasons, if any, given for it. Give the opinion the weight to which you deem it entitled, whether it be great or slight, and you may reject it, if in your judgment the reasons given for it are unsound. (R 105) (emphasis ours)

#15 — You are instructed that it is the law of this state that no person shall drive a vehicle on a highway at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards

then existing. The driver of every vehicle shall, consistent with these requirements, drive at an appropriate reduced speed when special hazards exist with respect to the traffic or by reason of the width of the highway, weather, the fact that one may be approaching an intersection or any other actual or potential hazards then existing. If you find from the evidence that either of the defendants drove his vehicle at a greater speed than was reasonable and prudent, considering the actual and potential hazards then existing, then, in that event, said driver was guilty of negligence. (R. 114)

#20 — The law requires that no person shall turn a vehicle upon a public highway unless and until such movement can be made with reasonable safety. This does not mean, however, that the driver of a motor vehicle, before making a turn, must know that there is no possibility of accident. It means that before starting to turn a vehicle and while making the turn, the driver of the vehicle must use such precaution as would satisfy a reasonably prudent person, acting under similar circumstances, that the turn could be made safely. (R. 119)

#21 — You are instructed that when the driver of a vehicle intends to make a right-hand turn at an intersection, both the approach for the right turn and the right turn itself shall be made as close as practical to the right-hand edge of the road or roadways, and that on a roadway where there are two or more lanes marked for traffic in each direction, the driver of the vehicle making the right hand turn shall remain in the outside lane and shall not thereafter change to the left or inside lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be made with safety. Should it appear from a preponderance of the

evidence that a driver in making a right hand turn failed to execute the turn in the manner aforesaid, that driver would be guilty of negligence. (R. 120)

#22 — You are instructed that the laws of the State of Utah provide that whenever any roadway has been divided into two or more clearly marked lanes for traffic a vehicle shall be driven as nearly as practical entirely within a single lane and shall not be moved from such lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be made with safety. A finding from a preponderance of the evidence that a driver in driving his car failed to comply with the foregoing requirement would make that driver guilty of negligence. (R. 121)

#23 — A person, who without negligence on his part, is suddenly and unexpectedly confronted with peril arising from either the actual presence or the appearance of imminent danger to himself or others is not expected nor required to use the same judgment and prudence that may be required of him in calmer and more deliberate moments.

In such a situation, his duty is to exercise only the degree of care which an ordinarily prudent person would exercise under the same or similar circumstances. If, at that moment, he exercises such care, he does all the law requires of him, even though in the light of after events, it might appear that a different choice and manner of action would have been better and safer. (R. 122)

The court also refused to give defendant's requested Instruction No. 17 as follows:

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