1968

Parley Marsh v. Robert Bryce Irvine and James Blackwood Neil : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

Plaintiff, Marsh, a paid passenger, was awarded a verdict for personal injuries against his host, Defendant Irvine, who drove motor vehicle making right turn from stopped position at stop sign into intersection with arterial highway and angled across outside lane of travel to inside fast lane where he was rear-ended by East bound co-defendant arterial driver, Neil, whom the jury released both as to Plaintiff's personal injury claim and as to the turning driver, Irvine's cross claim for auto damages. After appeal Defendants settled between themselves the auto damage claim.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Affirmance.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 9, 1964 at approximately 4:20 p.m. Defendant Irvine in whose auto the Plaintiff was a paid passenger (R-345) drove said auto from stop sign at exit of Magna Mill Road and Highway No. 201 Northerly into said highway turning right to head East and after being in the right lane for some sixty feet (exhibit 3-P — map, red route marked by Defendant Irvine; also F-359), changed lanes to inside, fast lane of travel into path of East bound truck driven by co-defendant, Neil, resulting in a rear-end collision. The highway was straight (for several hundred feet), four-lane, fairly new (R-22) highway with asphalt surface (R-281) and was in the words of Highway Patrolman, Ed Fitcher who was called as an expert witness —

“a high type road with a good surface on it . . .” with raised separating island (R-286) with eight foot shoulder, thirteen foot outside and fourteen foot six inch inside lane for East bound traffic (R-222) and with several hundred feet of visibility (photos P-6, P-7 and P-9; also map 3-P).

Highway Patrolman, Robert Haywood: “Visibility is good for several hundred feet in both directions and it is open.” (R-277).

Any slope in the road was so slight that the officer noted it as “level” (R-277) and a slight curvature further to the West (from which Defendant Neil approached was so slight that it, in the words of Highway Patrolman, Haywood —

Q. Did it effect the visibility for several hundred feet?

A. No, Sir.

Notwithstanding Defendant Neil's approach from the West going East at such speeds that he was passing traffic moving at sixty miles per hour —

Q. . . . Had you also passed those at sixty miles per hour?

A. The traffic was moving at sixty miles per hour.

Q. Just answer my question. Did you pass those, also sixty miles per hour?

A. Yes.

Q. Was it because you had passed those safely at sixty miles per hour you thought you could also pass this one at sixty?

A. The stream of traffic which I was moving in was moving at sixty miles per hour. (R-477 and R-478);

the approach of other East bound traffic —

A. I saw traffic down the highway (Irvine, R-352, L-6);

one or two cars westward on the inside lane that Defendant Irvine could see —

Q. Where were those two cars at the time of the actual collision?

A. Somewhere between here and here (indicating). I guess. I was so startled when they went by me. (R-357);

cars in the inside lane —

- Q. So after observing — and, as I understand it, you thought the cars in the inside lane were a little closer than the cars in the outside lane?
- A. I would say they was, Yes. (Irvine, R-367, L-6);

heavy traffic in general —

“... because there was cars coming behind too down here or there is big traffic pattern because everybody gets off work and going home; so, I don't see the highway; I was loading passengers, I looked up, saw all traffic pass here.”

...

- Q. Now after you loaded your passengers did you look to see if the way was clear?
- A. That is when I did look, yes.
- Q. Is that when you saw the cars coming East?
- A. Yes, the traffic pattern. (R-355, L-6, Irvine).
- Q. Alright, I want to know if those cars passed through the intersectio before you got in it, or did you get in the intersection in front of them?
- A. These cars here were way back here, and I passed into the intersection in front of them because I knew I had time to enter the intersection;

and notwithstanding Defendant Irvine's observation of the on-coming East bound Neil truck as a distance of 500 feet —

- Q. The other car drive by Neil, where was it when you first saw it?

- A. It was probably down here (indicating.)
- Q. About how far back from the intersection?
- A. Well, my guess was 500 feet.
- Q. Was that your testimony back in 1965?
- A. Yes, right here.
- Q. And would that then be your answer now?
- A. As near as I can guess in feet without measuring, yes. (R-366)
- Q. One of the automobiles you saw in the traffic pattern was in the inside lane of traffic?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And two of the automobiles you saw in the traffic pattern were in the outside lane of traffic?
- A. That's my — I remember cars come like I said — There was cars all the way back, and I wouldn't specify as to a certain number of cars.
- Q. In other words, let's put in this way. When you looked down here you saw cars on the inside lane of traffic or in the lane next to the center island; you saw a car, or cars, in that lane of traffic?
- A. Yes, sir. I think so.
- Q. And you saw cars in the outside lane of traffic?
- A. I saw traffic pattern. Yes.
- Q. The car on the inside lane at that point was about — you would estimate — 500 feet from the intersection?

A. That is my estimation." (R-366)
Defendant Irvine, after making the foregoing observation drove into the intersection.

Q. So after making that observation, then you started your car and drove into the intersection?

A. That's right. (Irvine, R-367, 1-14)

After the foregoing observation, Defendant Irvine apparently never looked again to the left and West before the collision and his apparent confusion substantiates probable failure to look again to the left —

Q. Where were those two cars at the time of actual collision?

A. Somewhere between here and here (indicating) I guess. I was so startled when they went by me. (Irvine, R-357, 1-8)

Defendant Irvine remained in the outside lane of traffic some sixty feet, (Exhibit 3-P — red line), before crossing into the inside fast lane. Irvine's testimony indicates he was conscious of the lanes; and for reasons the Court would not allow Irvine to tell (R-363, 1-24) Irvine proceeded apparently without further observation from the outside to the inside lane of travel —

Q. . . . Is it possible that you left the stop sign, proceeded a distance down the outside lane of travel, then, swung over to the inside lane of travel?

A. No, because I thought everything was clear here; so, I went across to get in the lane.

The foregoing seem to belie such changing of lanes; however Irvine had already, in tracing his route on the map, (Exhibit 3-P) stated:

- Q. Now then, would you trace your course of travel from the stop sign over to the point of impact, please?
- A. Driving in Salt Lake in this area, that is at least twothirds of the cars that go from Magna come out of these East Mill entrances onto this highway and proceed East. It is our normal practice too.
- Q. Just tell us what you did on this occasion.
- A. I see everything is clear, so I proceed to go in here and across into this lane, and, in order to go into the left-hand lane, which was through lane into the city, this lane being the lane going to Magna. (Irvine, R-360)

Defendant Irvine started from Zero at the stop sign, was at 15 mph or 20 on entering the inside lane of traffic (R-364 and 458) and at 35 mph (R-361, L-2) in the inside lane of travel was struck from the rear by Defendant Neil's truck, not 230 feet East of the east exit of the Magna Mill Road as indicated in Defendant Irvine's brief, page 5, but 155 to 180 feet, Exhibit 3-P, and R-359, L-19. (The jagged lines at 230 feet were where Irvine indicated cars came to rest (R-359, L-22 to L-29).

Better evidence, that of the investigating officer from the physical evidence, indicates the point of impact at 140 feet East on the Mill exit road —

Q. Were you able to determine within what area the point of impact occurred?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Within what area?

A. Inside lane of traffic.

Q. Now then, did you exclude the possibility of point of impact being either before or beyond certain points?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. . . . within theseven foot skid mark area?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. From your investigation, could it have been further West than that?

A. No, sir.

Q. . . . Have you indicated your best opinion?

A. My best opinion would be it would be in this seven foot distance there. (R-234, L-1).

When Neil first saw Defendant Irvine vehicle moving into the intersection he applied his brakes, his vehicle swayed —

A. . . . also my vehicle almost got out of control; I released the brake and let the engine take over the vehicle, again; and this is where this skid happened, when I jammed on the brakes, again to stop it.

Q. Now at the time you jammed on your brakes by then had you hit the Irvine car or —

A. No.

Q. Was it later you hit the Irvine car? Later?

A. After the skid. (R-59, L-1 to 10).
Neil slowed to what he thought was 30 mph when he rear-ended Defendant, Neil. (R-460, L-2).

Neil said he saw Irvine when he (Neil) was 150 feet back (R-462, L-1) as he was then going 60 mph, (R-462, L-4), that Defendant Irvine was stopped at the stop sign (R-463) —

Q. Did he stop right at the stop sign?

A. Yes, I would say he was stopped right at the stop sign. (R-463, L-28)

Neil knew it was shift change time at Kennecott (R-464, L-25); that at the time of Irvine's entry into the inside, fast lane, he, Irvine, was going 25 to 35 mph (R-466, L-6); and at that time Neil had apparently already braked the first time and lost control and thereafter braked to the point of collision as he said (R-466) —

A. How fast? I think I was traveling — I would say, I had already started to brake my vehicle; noticing an accident was imminent and, by that time, I was busy controlling the vehicle, trying to stop it.

Q. So how fast do you think you were going?

A. I would say maybe at this time I was still doing 55 miles an hour.

Q. Now was this the reason that you had braked, the fact that he was pointing towards — and coming towards your lane of travel?

A. I didn't start to brake until I saw him start to enter that lane; never expected the man to enter that lane of traffic.

Q. In other words you say now, until he started to enter your lane of travel, you hadn't started to brake?

A. No.

Q. Is that right?

A. That is correct.

Neil also said that when Irvine was at the stop sign he, Neil, was 150 feet away traveling 60 mph (R-454, L-26, 30).

Neil was 75 to 100 feet West of the stop sign (R-469, L-12) and going 60 mph (R-469, L-28) according to Neil, and Irvine was just making the turn (R-469, L-21) and when crossing into the fast lane of travel was going 20 mph (R-458, L-6). Neil slowed to what he estimated as 30 mph and struck Irvine (R-460, L-2). The second application of the brakes, according to Neil, likely made the skid marks —

Q. The skid marks then, they were probably made by the rear wheels weren't they?

A. In all probability it was the second fierce application of brakes (Neil, R-471, L-11)

Q. . . . And then when you got down to this point where the officer has indicated there are some two skid marks, you, again, applied them hard?

A. Yes. (Neil, R-471, L-23)

According to Neil the outside lane in front of Irvine was occupied with other vehicles:

Q. . . . Was there traffic immediately in front of his vehicle? . . .

A. Yes.

Q. About how close would you estimate to the front of his vehicle?

A. About two car lengths.

Q. Is that the answer you gave at that time?

Neil on cross gave the speed of Irvine on crossing to inside fast lane as 20 to 35 mph. (R-476, L-23). He also stated on cross that there were cars in front of him in his lane of travel (R-478, L-10).

Captain Ed Pitcher testified as an expert that the coefficient of friction at the scene of the accident was approximately .79 (R-544); that slowing distance from 60 mph to 30 mph was 114 feet (R-572); that if the accident happened 213 feet from the stop sign (R-502, L-9) Defendant Irvine consumed, in traveling from stopped position at stop sign to 35 mph at point of impact 8.4 seconds (R-510, L-4); that from the point Irvine may have entered the fast lane (Exhibit 3-P), (green line made by Neil,) (thereby along with his direction and speed altering approaching driver Defendant Neil of Irvine's intent to take the fast lane) to point of impact (as testified to by Neil as at green marks, Exhibit 3-P, i.e., 180 feet — 140 feet according to Officer Hayward (R-232, Exhibit 3-P), Irvine traveled 180 feet (213 feet minus 33 feet) and consumed 5.1 seconds (R-510, L-30); that approaching driver, Neil, in slowing from 60 to 35 mph consumed 1.7 seconds (R-517, L-4) leaving 3.4 sec-

onds to spare, or would have consumed to fully stop 4.2 seconds still leaving .15 seconds even if Irvine had been stopped on the road (R-517, L-15).

Inescapable conclusions follow that Neil either was much further back on making the crucial observations or that speeds were drastically different than indicated by the witnesses, also that Neil possibly consumed considerable time and distance while out of control.

POINT I.

DEFENDANT IRVINE'S REQUEST FOR DIRECTED VERDICT WAS CORRECTLY DENIED.

The Plaintiff's Complaint (R-1) reveals Plaintiff initially sued the turning driver, Defendant Irvine, regarding him at fault for failure to yield, improperly changing lanes, and failure to keep a proper lookout, and later added Defendant Neil, the arterial driver by Amended Complaint (R-6) after deposition of Irvine October 20, 1965 (R-350, L-13). We too regarded Neil as negligent but the jury failed to agree and our question is whether as to Plaintiff, Marsh, the paid passenger in Irvine's auto, there was negligence on the part of the turning driver, Irvine, to sustain the verdict.

It is difficult to see how the three cases cited in Defendant Irvine's brief under Point I — that Irvine should have had a directed verdict of no cause of action — aid him when the three cases cited ruled that the crucial questions of negligence and proximate cause of

the drivers in situations analogous to that of Irvine were jury questions.

Nelson vs. Molena, Washington, Jan. 1959, 334, Pac. 2d 170, is cited in Defendant Irvine's brief page 20 in support of Irvine's point that he should have had a direct verdict instead of a jury verdict against him, the brief noting:

"The appellant court held that the principles of law that applied in the instruction which should have been given were those applicable to following and preceding drivers and the statute relating to an overtaking driver was applicable. . . ."

In that case the right turning driver, Defendant Molena, made a right turn from a non-arterial highway onto arterial highway and was struck from the rear by Plaintiff, Nelson, who attempted to pass but was forced to turn back into his own lane by approaching auto, it being a *two lane* (Not a four-lane as here) highway. The verdict was for the Defendant, Molena, on cross claim. The Supreme Court held that the evidence raised questions for the jury as to whether Plaintiff Nelson was so far from the intersection when the Defendant Molena entered that a reasonably prudent man could believe it safe to enter and as to whether Plaintiff Nelson's excessive speed caused the accident. Judgment on verdict was affirmed.

The Court said, page 171:

"The principle question presented is whether the Court, under the facts in this case, should have applied, as a matter of law, the rules appli-

cable to intersection collisions (RCW 46.60.170) and thus should have held the disfavored driver to have been contributorily negligent. The trial court's answer, properly given, we think was no."

The court commented, page 172:

"Nelson (Plaintiff) urges that his Motion for a Directed Verdict and for Judgment n.o.v. should have been granted because it is undisputed that Molena (Defendant turning driver), the disfavored driver, if the intersection applied did not yield the right of way and his failure so to do caused the collision."

"If a disfavored driver enters an intersection at such a time and in such a way as to produce an emergency situation in which the favored driver is unable, in the exercise of reasonable skill and judgment to avoid a collision, the disfavored driver's failure to yield the right of way at the intersection would constitute negligence per se (*Miller vs. Asbury*, 1942 Wash. 13 Wash. 2d 533, 125 Pac. 2d, 652) even though the resultant collision occurs outside the bounds of the intersection. *Boss vs. Dufault*, 1953 Wash. 257 Pac. 2d 775; *Milne vs. City of Seattle*, 1944, Wash. 145 Pac. 2d 888; *Rutger vs. Walken*, 1943, Wash. 143 Pac. 2d 866; *Hook vs. Kirby*, 1933, Wash. 27 Pac. 2nd 567."

"Under such a state of facts, RCW 46.60.170 (quoted supra) would apply and the rights and liabilities of the parties would depend upon who had the right of way at the intersection.

"In the present case the testimony of a disinterested witness placed the favored driver (Plaintiff Nelson) so far away from the intersection when the disfavored driver (Defendant

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